
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee of the 
Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of 

Music & Drama 

 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 11 NOVEMBER 2020 

Time: 9.30 am – Streamed Live to You Tube 

Venue: https://youtu.be/CbJ2dp_B7XU  

 
Members: Professor Geoffrey Crossick (Chairman) – Co-optee 

Randall Anderson (Deputy Chairman) 
John Chapman 
Christopher Costigan - Co-optee 
Michael Herington - Co-optee 
Dr Paula Haynes – Co-optee 
 

 
 
 
Enquiries: julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 

 
 

 
Accessing the virtual public meeting 

Members of the public can observe this virtual public meeting at the above link. 
 
This meeting will be a virtual meeting and therefore will not take place in a physical  
location following regulations made under Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.  
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of  
the public meeting for up to one municipal year. Please note: Online meeting recordings  
do not constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available 
 on the City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion 
 of the proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material 

 
 

 
John Barradell 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/CbJ2dp_B7XU


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 

Part 1 - Public Agenda 
 
1. APOLOGIES 
 
2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 
3. PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the public minutes and summary of the last meeting. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
4. NEW CUC CODE OF PRACTICE FOR AUDIT COMMITTEES 
 Chairman to be heard. 
 For Discussion 
 (Pages 5 - 24) 

 
5. TERMS OF REFERENCE -  TO FOLLOW 
 The Committee is asked to note its Terms of Reference. 

 
 For Discussion 
6. INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 
 Report of the Head of Audit and Risk Management, Chamberlains. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 25 - 38) 

 
7. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE AUDIT & RISK 

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
8. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
9. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 MOTION - That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
  
 

Part 2 – Non-Public Agenda 
 
10. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES 
 To agree the non-public minutes of the previous meeting. 

 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 39 - 42) 

 



3 
 

11. GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC & DRAMA RISK REGISTER 
 Report of the Principal, Guildhall School of Music and Drama. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 43 - 110) 

 
12. GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC AND DRAMA BUDGET 2020/21 
 Report of the Principal, Guildhall School of Music and Drama. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 111 - 118) 

 
13. UPDATE TO THE MEDIUM-TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 
 Report of the Principal, Guildhall School of Music and Drama. 

 
 For Information 
 (Pages 119 - 124) 

 
14. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE 

AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
15. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT AND 

WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE OF THE BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF THE GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC & DRAMA 

 
Wednesday, 2 September 2020  

 
Minutes of the meeting streamed live to You Tube  

 
Present 
 
Members: 
Marianne Fredericks (Chairman) 
Randall Anderson (Deputy Chairman) 
Christopher Costigan (Co-optee) 
Michael Herington (Co-optee) 

 

 
In Attendance 
Vivienne Littlechild 
Graham Packham 
 
Officers: 
Lynne Williams 
Graeme Hood 
 

- Principal, Guildhall School of Music and Drama 
- Guildhall School of Music and Drama/ 
- Barbican Centre 

Matthew Lock - Head of Audit and Risk Management, Chamberlain's 
Department 

James Gibson 
Julie Mayer 
John Cater 
Leanne Murphy 
 

- IT Support, Chamberlain’s Department 
- Town Clerks 
- Town Clerks 
- Town Clerks 
 
 

1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from John Chapman. 
  
Before commencing the business on the agenda, the Chairman welcomed new 
Co-opted Members; Christopher Costigan and Michael Herington to the 
Committee and thanked City of London Corporation Member, Ann Holmes, who 
had recently stepped down.     
 

2. MEMBERS' DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations.  
 

3. PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED, that – the public minutes and non-public summary of the meeting 
held on 4th March 2020 be approved.  
 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



In response to a question, Matthew Lock confirmed that his job title was ‘Head 

of Audit and Risk Management’ and this would be used going forward to ensure 

consistency. 

4. COMMITTEE'S TERMS OF REFERENCE  
The Committee received its Terms of Reference ahead of their formal approval 
by the Board on 21st September 2020.  The Town Clerk advised that all of the 
Board’s sub committees had a quorum of 3 members. 
 
One of the new Co-opted Members advised that the Committee of University 
Chairs  had recently issued guidance on Audit Committees.  It was noted that 
the current terms of reference were very comprehensive and, as they had 
recently been subject to a review, it was likely that they might just need a minor 
adjustment.  There was a further suggestion that this adjustment might make 
explicit reference to the remit of the Committee in relation to Academic risks.    
The Secretary & Dean of Students agreed to look at this and the Town Clerk 
had circulated the Office for Student Guidance pre the Summer recess.   The 
Chairman suggested that the Audit and Risk Committee and its new Chairman, 
to be appointed by the Board on 21st September 2020, should consider any 
further revisions to the Terms of Reference.  The Town Clerk further advised 
that amendments could be considered by the Board in-year, and not just at the 
first meeting of the Municipal Year.   
 

5. UPDATE ON HIGHER EDUCATION STATISTICS AGENCY (HESA) DATA 
FUTURES  
The Committee received a report of the Principal in respect of the change in 
scope and timeframe of the UK Government’s HESA Data Futures project.  
Governors noted that the changing technical specification had been particularly 
challenging.  Officers confirmed that there were no issues with previous returns, 
which were always submitted on time. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted,   
 

6. UPDATE ON ONGOING CONDITIONS OF REGISTRATION WITH THE 
OFFICE FOR STUDENTS  
The Committee received a report of the Principal in respect of the ongoing 
conditions of registration with the Office for Students (OfS).  Governors noted 
that, arising from the Covid-19 crisis, the OfS had introduced a new, temporary 
ongoing condition, and was proposing another permanent condition of 
registration,  which was currently out for consultation.  The report provided an 
update on development and assurance in respect of compliance with the new 
temporary condition. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

7. INTERNAL AUDIT UPDATE REPORT  
The Committee received a report of the Head of Audit and Risk Management 
and noted that delivery of Internal Audit work had been impacted by the 
Coronavirus pandemic and, as a result of the the organisation’s immediate 
response, no Internal Audit work has been finalised since the last report to the  

Page 2



Committee in March 2020.  Governors noted that it had not been possible to 
complete the Internationalisation Internal Audit review, which remained a 
priority.  The Head of Audit and Risk Management had worked productively 
with the School, amending the Audit Plan in accordance with recent events and 
priorities for the remainder of the year and confirmed that the plan would still be 
delivered before the end of the financial year. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

8. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE AUDIT & 
RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
There were no questions.  
 

9. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no urgent items.  
 

10. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED – That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on 
the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 3 of Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 
as follows:- 
 
Item Paragraph 
12 3 
 

11. NON-PUBLIC MINUTES  
RESOLVED, that – the non-public minutes the meeting held on 4th March 2020 
be approved. 
 

12. GUILDHALL SCHOOL OF MUSIC AND DRAMA RISK REGISTER  
Governors received and discussed a report of the Principal. 
 
RESOLVED, that – the report be noted. 
 

13. NON-PUBLIC QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF 
THE AUDIT & RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE  
There were no questions.  
 

14. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN CONSIDERS URGENT 
AND WHICH THE SUB COMMITTEE AGREE SHOULD BE CONSIDERED 
WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no urgent items.  
 

 
 
The meeting ended at 3.45 pm 
 
 
 

 

Page 3



Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Julie Mayer  
tel. no.: 020 7332 1410 
julie.mayer@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 4



Higher Education  
Audit Committees 
Code of Practice
May 2020

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



Higher Education Audit Committees 
Code of Practice

Introduction
1.   The contribution of effective audit arrangements to long-term organisational 

sustainability and success is widely recognised. In addition, effective audit 
arrangements provide reassurance to the public, regulators and other  
stakeholders as to the effectiveness of organisations, which in turn supports 
the autonomy of Higher Education providers.

2.  Expectations of auditors are set out in various international, national and 
professional standards, Codes and guidelines. This Code’s primary audience 
is HE providers’ Audit Committees, and it is designed to support them in  
ensuring their institutions have the most effective audit arrangements.

3.  The Code identifies the key principles and elements that form an effective 
Audit Committee. However, good audit practice is complex and goes beyond 
the adoption of the Code. Effective audit is not just about having a strong  
Audit Committee; it also requires competent and capable auditors coupled 
with an organisational culture which gives freedom to act; establishes  
authorities and accountabilities; and at its core fosters relationships based  
on mutual respect, trust and honesty.

4.  By visibly adopting the Code, Audit Committees demonstrate leadership  
and stewardship in relation to the audit of their own institutions, and in 
doing so help to protect institutional reputation and provide a level of 
assurance to key stakeholders, partners (including the student community) 
and society more widely. The Code needs to be read alongside the governing 
instruments of HEIs and relevant legal and regulatory requirements.

5.  While this Code takes account of international and national trends and  
developments, audit does not stand still. As the expectations of audit 
change, this Code itself will be reviewed regularly to ensure it remains fit  
for purpose – at least every four years and more regularly when there is 
significant change.

Using the Code

6.  The Code sets out the key elements that enable HE providers to demonstrate 
their commitment to effective audit.

7.  The autonomy and diversity of HE providers is one of the great strengths of 
the UK HE sector. Therefore, there is a need to ensure audit arrangements 
are proportionate and can apply to institutions irrespective of their size, 
complexity and legal form. Accordingly, this Code is premised on an ‘apply or 
explain’ basis in which the governing body is given a set of elements, but is 
not mandated to comply with everything. Governing bodies can determine, 
based on the advice of their Executive and considering size, scale and  
structure etc, which parts of the Code apply to them. However, they are  
expected to be able to explain and justify the reasons for not adopting  
elements of the Code.

8.  Institutions that adopt the Code can confirm that they do so within the  
framework of an Audit Committee annual report that is made public and/or  
a separate statement within their annual accounts.

By visibly adopting the 
Code, Audit Committees 
demonstrate leadership 
and stewardship in  
relation to the audit of 
their own institutions.

Page 6



9.  This Code is written for providers that have an Audit Committee and an
internal audit function. These are not requirements for all providers.
However, some of the principles, ideas and elements might be adopted
by other committees if there is no Audit Committee.

What does the HE Code of Governance say?

10.  Working with the Executive, the governing body sets the mission and
strategic direction of the institution. It receives assurance that delivery of
the strategic plan is in line with legislative and regulatory requirements,
institutional values and wider institutional policies and procedures, and
that effective systems of control and risk management are in place.

Why is it important?

11.  Regardless of type or size, success for HEIs is built on a foundation of sound
governance and financial and reputational sustainability. This requires
robust internal controls, including arrangements for securing:
l effective risk management;
l value for money;
l legal and regulatory compliance;
l reliable, accurate and timely management information;
l  management and quality assurance of data submitted to the Higher

Education Statistics Agency, the Student Loans Company, the OfS and
Funding Councils, Research England and other bodies;

l  appropriate disclosure and transparency; and
l  a culture of uncompromising moral and ethical behaviour.

12.  HEIs can access expertise in all these areas – and in the process more
successfully fulfil their strategic goals – by using the knowledge and
experience of Audit Committees and their auditors.

13.  Culture is critical here: it is not just about ethical behaviour, but a culture
across the organisation in which people can admit mistakes, embrace
continual improvement and welcome constructive challenge. Audit
Committees should act as the conscience of the HE provider and conduct
their business in a way that provides the assurance required and, if
necessary, identifies bad behaviour. Audit must not be a box-checking
exercise (conducted to meet the narrowest definition of assurance),
and should be about reputation, improvement, constructive challenge
and innovation.

What are the key elements of an effective 
Audit Committee?
Element 1:  The role of the Audit Committee is clearly understood.
Element 2:   Audit Committee membership is independent, experienced  

and effective.
Element 3:  Audit Committee meetings are properly organised and supported.
Element 4:  The Audit Committee has enough resources and access.
Element 5:   The Audit Committee communicates regularly and effectively with 

the governing body and appropriate stakeholders.
Element 6:   The Audit Committee undertakes periodic assessments of  

its effectiveness.
Element 7:  The Audit Committee exercises effective oversight of external audit.
Element 8:  The Audit Committee exercises effective oversight of internal audit.

Audit Committees  
should act as the  
conscience of the HE  
provider and conduct 
their business in a way 
that provides the  
assurance required.

Page 7



Element 1: The role of the Audit Committee is clearly understood

14.  It is the role of the Audit Committee to advise and assist the governing  
body in respect of the entire assurance and control environment of the  
HE provider. Specifically, it will:

	 l  review and recommend to the governing body for approval1 the  
annual consolidated financial statements of the institution, including  
consideration of the external auditors’ management letter and  
management responses to it;

	 l  seek appropriate assurances in order that it can advise the governing 
body on the effectiveness of the HE provider’s arrangements for  
governance and internal control (see paragraph 10); and

	 l  receive and consider the annual Head of Internal Audit report.

15.  Audit Committees must not have any executive authority over the  
management of the HE provider except for matters that are linked to  
the provision of assurance and delegated to it, e.g. appointment and  
dismissal of internal and external auditors, agreement of audit plans  
and commissioning of specialist advice, if necessary.

16.  Institutions should ensure that appropriate members of the Executive are 
responsible for active engagement with audit processes, the auditors and 
recommendations for improvements as a result of audits that are agreed 
with the Audit Committee.

17.  The role and responsibilities of the Audit Committee should be set out in 
written terms of reference, and should – with reference to the relevant  
regulatory requirements – include the following objectives:

 a)  Monitor and review the effectiveness of the institution’s entire risk  
management (including academic risk), control and governance  
arrangements. This will include compliance with the legal and  
regulatory framework that the institution operates within. This should 
include consideration of the culture and behaviour that is prevalent  
within the institution and arrangements that can affect reputation,  
such as the management of conflicts of interest.

 b)  Review the audit of the institution’s financial statements, including  
the audit report, the statement of governors’ responsibilities and the 
statement of internal control. Audit Committees can fulfil a broader role 
than this, to include all aspects of the review of the financial statements 
and stand back from the narrative reporting (in particular the Strategic 
Report) and consider whether it is fair and balanced.

 c)  Consider the transparency and openness of reporting throughout  
financial statements. There is a good case for separating the more  
dynamic financial decision making and support of the Finance Committee 
from the risk, data assurance and control role of the Audit Committee.

 d)  Satisfy itself that suitable arrangements are in place to ensure  
sustainability and promote economy, efficiency and effectiveness  
(value for money).

 e)  Consider and advise the governing body on the approach to internal  
audit – this can be an in-house function, membership of a consortia,  
outsourced or a hybrid approach. Once the approach is determined,  
the Audit Committee can consider the appointment and terms of  
engagement of the internal audit function (and the head of internal audit, 

1  In addition, there is often a Finance Committee that recommends approval of the financial  
statements after a detailed examination – this is different to Audit Committee review, which 
provides assurance that there has been a robust examination of the statements via the internal 
process and the external audit.

The role and  
responsibilities of the  
Audit Committee should 
be set out in written 
terms of reference.

Page 8



if applicable), the budget for audit, the provision of any non-audit services  
(e.g. consultancy) by internal auditors, and any questions arising from 
their resignation or dismissal.

 f)  Review the nature and scope of the internal audit process and discuss  
with the internal auditors any problems and reservations arising from 
their audit, including their audit reports and any other matters the  
internal auditors may wish to discuss.

 g)  Consider and advise the governing body on the appointment and terms 
of reference of the external auditors, the audit fee, the provision of any 
non-audit services by the external auditors, and any questions of their 
resignation or dismissal.

 h)  Review the nature and scope of the external audit process and discuss 
with the external auditors any problems and reservations arising from 
their audit, including the external audit management letter and any other 
matters the external auditors may wish to discuss.

 i)  Monitor annually the performance and effectiveness of external and 
internal auditors, including any matters affecting their independence  
and objectivity.

 j)  Monitor other relevant sources of assurance, for example other  
external reviews

 k)  Oversee the provider’s policies related to ethical2 and other behaviours, 
including whistleblowing, anti-bribery, material adverse or reportable 
events, fraud and irregularity etc. – including being notified of any action 
taken under these policies (see Appendix 2).

18.  The Audit Committee’s terms of reference should be coordinated with  
the responsibilities of other governing body or Senate/Academic Board  
Committees in the institution, for example where there is a Finance  
Committee, a Risk Management Committee, and other committees focused 
on risk (e.g. an Investment Committee or an Environment, Health and Safety 
Committee). These Committees may be required to consider the same issue 
from different perspectives. Care should be taken to clearly define the roles 
and responsibilities of each committee, when collaboration is required, 
whether cross-membership is allowed and whether the Audit Committee 
Chair or members might attend other committee meetings as an observer 
(and vice versa).

19.  Audit Committee model terms of reference can be found in Appendix 1. 
These model terms of reference are intended to assist Audit Committees  
in creating or updating their own terms of reference for their specific  
circumstances. They are not prescriptive and serve only as a guide in  
establishing the Audit Committee’s work plan and meeting agendas.

Element 2: Audit Committee membership is independent,  
experienced and effective

20.  The Audit Committee should consist of at least three independent members 
of the governing body and can co-opt non-members with relevant expertise 
or interests when necessary. All members of the Committee should be  
independent, objective and non-executive. The Audit Committee Chair 
should be a member of and appointed by the governing body. All members 
should be appointed by the governing body, and any ‘independent member’ 
(i.e. not a governing body member) should be appointed via the Nominations 

2  Sometimes questions arise as to whether this includes all aspects of ethics, e.g. Research Ethics 
Committees’ and policies. The Audit Committee’s role is to provide assurance that there is an  
appropriate framework for managing research ethics, not to second-guess decisions made by  
an Ethics Committee.

The Audit Committee 
should consist of at  
least three independent 
members of the  
governing body and can 
co-opt non-members 
with relevant expertise  
or interests when  
necessary.

Page 9



Committee. Members will need the appropriate mix of skills and experience 
to allow them to discharge their duties effectively. At least one member  
of the Audit Committee should have recent and relevant experience in  
accounting or auditing.

21.  The size of the Audit Committee will vary depending on the needs and 
culture of the institution and the extent of responsibilities delegated to the 
Committee by the governing body. Committees of three to five individuals 
are generally most appropriate because they provide for a sufficiently wide 
range of skills, perspectives and experience.

22.  The Committee should have the right, whenever it is satisfied that this is  
appropriate, to go into confidential session and exclude any or all other  
participants and observers other than the Audit Committee Secretary.  
A useful approach is for Audit Committees to routinely have member-only 
sessions before a meeting, then invite only the auditors to discuss anything 
they might wish to keep private, and at the end, ask the auditors to leave to 
give the Executive the opportunity to raise any further private matters. This 
stops such sessions being seen as somehow related to a particular problem 
or critical issue.

23.  As co-opted members are appointed only to the Audit Committee and not 
the governing body they will have to make efforts to obtain and maintain an 
appropriate understanding of the institution. In this respect, appropriate 
induction training is critical, as is an ongoing programme of activity to ensure 
that members maintain enough appropriate contact with the organisation. 
Where appropriate, co-opted members could be copied in on the minutes  
of the governing body and the papers prepared for its meetings. Whether  
or not papers are copied, the key requirement is that members need to  
understand how the HEI operates, its critical processes, the HE sector and 
key legislation affecting the sector. They also need to understand the role  
of auditors. This enables them to challenge rigorously and support  
appropriately, as required.

24.  Appointments to the Audit Committee, including co-option arrangements, 
should be transparent and made by the governing body on the  
recommendation of the Nomination Committee, in consultation with  
the Chair of the Audit Committee. Terms of three years, with staggered  
expiration dates and clear succession planning to help to ensure continuity, 
are common.

25.  All Audit Committee members need to be independent and objective.  
Senior employees of the institution are generally not considered  
independent and should not be members of the Audit Committee. Similarly, 
the Vice-Chancellor, Chair of the governing body and Chair of the Finance 
Committee (or equivalent) should not be members of the Audit Committee. 
This does not preclude the Secretary to the Committee being an employee. 
Nevertheless, some institutions appoint students and staff to their Audit 
Committees on the basis that it builds trust, promotes inclusion and  
demonstrates transparency.

26.  When determining the independence of an Audit Committee member,  
the governing body might consider whether any material relationships or  
circumstances could affect (or appear to affect) the member’s judgement. 
Such relationships and circumstances may occur if the individual has:

	 l  or has had within the last three years, a material business relationship 
with the institution, either directly or as a partner, shareholder, director, 
consultant or senior employee of a body which has such a relationship 
with the institution; has

The size of the Audit 
Committee will vary  
depending on the  
needs and culture of  
the institution and the 
extent of responsibilities 
delegated to the  
Committee by the  
governing body.

Page 10



	 l  been an employee of the institution within the last five years;
	 l  close family ties with any of the institution’s advisers, officers or senior 

employees; or has
	 l  significant links with any of the institution’s auditors, advisers, officers  

or senior employees through involvement in other bodies.

27.  Audit Committee members are not usually members of a Finance  
Committee or its equivalent. This is because the Audit Committee needs  
the independence to be able to challenge the Finance Committee.  
Cross-representation might be appropriate where the following conditions 
are met:

	 l  the Audit Committee has at least three members (not counting co-optees);
	 l  the person serving on both Committees is not the Chair of either; or
	 l  in institutions which have a treasurer, that person does not serve on  

both Committees (albeit this individual might attend the meetings of  
both Committees).

28.  Notwithstanding the above, consideration might be given to Audit  
Committee members occasionally attending Finance Committee meetings 
by invitation, as observers and vice versa. Consideration should be given  
to the ongoing independence of the Audit Committee if there is a regular 
observer, as this could adversely influence the work and deliberations of  
the Committee.

29.  In determining who should sit on the Audit Committee, the governing body 
should not lose sight of the fact that the Committee’s remit is much broader 
than financial audit. The Audit Committee’s approach should always be  
risk-based, and therefore its remit encompasses aspects of governance; 
culture and behaviour; risk management (including academic risk) and  
control, as well as the economy; efficiency and effectiveness of the  
institution’s activities. It is important that the Audit Committee seeks  
multiple inputs into its deliberations drawing on Executive management, 
internal and external auditors and any other expert voices it feels necessary 
to be able to reach a rounded conclusion.

30.  Equally, it may be beneficial for members to have experience in areas  
pertinent to the institution and the specific circumstances in which it  
operates. For example, including staff from other institutions on the Audit 
Committee may help the Committee to draw its conclusions as to whether 
certain governance, risk or control processes will be easily embedded within 
the fabric of the institution.

31.  When determining the composition of the Audit Committee, it is also  
important to balance experience in several different areas with a wide  
range of knowledge, skills and personal attributes such as:

	 l  sound judgement;
	 l  integrity and probity;
	 l  the ability to question intelligently and with relevance;
	 l  the ability to and debate constructively;
	 l  the ability to challenge rigorously and decide dispassionately; and
	 l  being trusted and respected by other governing body and  

Committee members.

32.  It is important to emphasise that effective Audit Committees are about the 
people and their behaviours more than the processes and structures. This 
means that all members need to make sure they attend most meetings, 
prepare appropriately and make an effective contribution. To contribute 

In determining who 
should sit on the  
Audit Committee, the 
governing body should 
not lose sight of the fact 
that the Committee’s  
remit is much broader 
than financial audit.

Page 11



means that they will need a good understanding of the business. The roles of 
the Chair and Clerk are crucial in ensuring an appropriate rigour of debate; 
effective relationships with management and auditors and checking that the 
Committee continuously adds value to the operations of the institution.

Element 3: Audit Committee meetings are properly organised  
and supported

33.  Audit Committee meetings need to coincide with key dates within the  
financial reporting and audit cycle to enable the Committee to make timely 
and influential decisions. A quorum will normally be at least two members, 
one of whom must be a member of governing body. If there is only one  
member of a governing body present, they should take the Chair for the 
meeting. If members are unable to attend, then provision should be made 
for them to provide comments on any papers, either via the Committee  
Secretary or the Chair, in advance of the meeting.

34.  Audit Committees need a set of standing orders within the context of general 
governance arrangements for the provider to ensure the proper conduct of 
business. These standing orders must be approved by the governing body 
and be subject to regular review (i.e. at least biennially).

35.  Notwithstanding the Audit Committee’s right to decide who is entitled to  
attend any meeting, the internal and external auditors should have  
unrestricted right of access to the Audit Committee and/or its Chair and the 
right to ask the Chair to convene a meeting if necessary. The single exception 
would be agenda items covering the review of the audit service itself.

Element 4: The Audit Committee has enough resources and access

36.  The Audit Committee must be provided with enough resources to  
undertake its duties and make effective use of its time. The Committee  
must have the right to obtain all the information it considers necessary and 
to consult directly with the internal auditors, external auditors, Executive 
management and any employees it considers necessary.

37.  The governing body should make funds available to the Audit Committee 
to enable it to take independent legal, accounting or other advice when the 
Committee reasonably believes it necessary to do so.

38.  The institution should provide an induction programme for new Audit  
Committee members. This should cover the role of the Audit Committee, 
including its terms of reference and expected time commitment by  
members, and an overview of the institution including, for example, its key 
risks and critical accounting policies. Depending on skills and experience  
this may need to be supplemented by a development programme.

39.  The Audit Committee should have a Secretary – normally the clerk to the 
governing body or some other independent person. In determining the 
Secretary to the Committee, the governing body should consider whether 
the proposed Secretary has significant financial or other senior management 
responsibilities that might impair, or be seen to impair, the independence of 
the individual.

Element 5: The Audit Committee communicates regularly and  
effectively with the governing body and appropriate stakeholders

40.  The Audit Committee should ensure that it communicates effectively with 
the governing body, head of finance (or equivalent), internal auditor, external 
auditor and other stakeholders. The key channel of communication is via the 
Audit Committee Chair.

 The Audit Committee 
must be provided with 
enough resources to  
undertake its duties  
and make effective use  
of its time.

Page 12



41.  The Audit Committee also needs to have open, timely communications with 
the governing body if it is to assist the governing body effectively in discharging its 
responsibility for adequate and effective risk management, culture, control 
and governance and for the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the 
institution’s activities. This may be via written reports at Board meetings, written 
information in between meetings and oral reports at Board meetings from the 
Chair.

42.  The Audit Committee should produce an annual report for the governing body 
and the Head of Institution, timed to support the preparation of the published 
financial statements.

43.  The Audit Committee should consider the annual financial statements in the 
presence of the external auditors, including the auditors’ formal opinion, the 
statement of members’ responsibilities and the statement of internal 
control, and when satisfied recommend them to the governing body
for approval.

44.  The annual report should include the Committee’s opinion of the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the institution’s arrangements for risk management, 
control and governance, sustainability, economy, efficiency and effectiveness 
(value for money) and the quality of data submitted to regulatory bodies. The 
report should describe how the Audit Committee has discharged its duties and 
should include any significant issues arising during the financial year and the 
period up to the date of the report.

45.  The governing body needs to monitor any changes from the date of the Audit 
Committee report to the date of approval of the audited financial statements as 
the statement of internal control must explicitly relate to the period covered 
by the financial statements, and the period up to Board approval.

Element 6: The Audit Committee undertakes periodic assessments 
of its effectiveness

46.  The Audit Committee should periodically (a minimum of every four years)
undertake a review of its terms of reference and its own effectiveness and
recommend any necessary changes to the governing body.

47.  There is no right way to conduct such a review, but some form of assessment
is desirable every year, and it is best that different approaches are used in
different years. So, one year, it might simply be a discussion in a member- 
only session about how things have gone and what might be changed.
Another year, there might be a questionnaire issued to members, auditors3

and senior managers, while occasionally there may be merit in asking for
some external input – perhaps from the Audit Chair or the Head of Audit
from another institution, and sometimes from an independent reviewer
(typically as part of an independent review of the institution’s overall
governance arrangements). Possible areas for consideration are set out in
Appendix 3).

Element 7: The Audit Committee exercises effective oversight of 
external audit

48. The Audit Committee assists the governing body by providing independent
oversight over external audit. Specifically, the Audit Committee should:

a)  Consider and advise the governing body on the appointment and terms of
reference of the external auditors, having done due diligence on the audit

3  Auditors should only be asked about how well the Committee performs, not about the  
effectiveness of other auditors.

The Audit Committee 
should produce an  
annual report for the 
governing body and  
the Head of 
Institution, timed to 
support the 
preparation  
of the published  
financial statements.

Page 13



firm including their membership of a professional institute (which  
ensures that they will comply with relevant audit codes and regulations), 
and ensure through contract that they will comply with relevant audit 
codes and regulations, the audit fee, the provision of any non-audit  
services by the external auditors, and any questions arising from their 
resignation or dismissal.

b)  Review the nature and scope of the external audit process and discuss
with the external auditors any problems and reservations arising from
their audit, including the management letter and any other matters the
external auditors may wish to discuss.

c)  Monitor the performance and effectiveness of the external auditors each
year, including any matters affecting their independence and objectivity.

d)  Consider the external auditor’s independence and request from the
auditor a statement that sets out the auditor’s processes used to ensure
their independence and objectivity, taking into consideration relevant
UK professional and regulatory requirements. For its part, the audit
firm should have properly monitored internal policies and procedures
in place to establish that the firm and its individual members are
independent from the institution. This should take place at intervals of,
at most, one year.

49.  The Audit Committee needs to ensure that it exercises appropriate
oversight over the audit of subsidiaries as well as the institution itself.
Where the same firm audits both subsidiary entities and the institution, the
Audit Committee should review the nature, scope and results of the external
audit process with the ‘group’ auditor. Similar considerations apply where
subsidiary entities are audited by different auditors. Here, the Audit
Committee needs to satisfy itself that the group auditor is factoring into
the audit plan significant subsidiary audit risks, and that appropriate audit
evidence is sought.

50.  The governing body, acting on the advice of the Audit Committee, may pass
a resolution to remove the auditors before the end of their term of office if
serious shortcomings are identified.

51.  Where auditors cease to hold office for any reason, they should provide the
governing body with a statement of any circumstances connected with their
removal which they consider should be brought to the governing body’s
attention, or a statement that there are no such circumstances. The Audit
Committee should investigate the issues giving rise to such resignation or
removal and consider whether any action is required. If necessary, the Audit
Committee Chair should ensure that each member of the governing body
has a copy of the auditors’ statement.

52.  To help ensure that non-audit services provided by the auditor do not impair,
or appear to impair, the auditor’s independence or objectivity, the Audit
Committee should develop a policy on the provision and pre-approval of
all non-audit services. In determining this policy, the Committee should
consider the skills and experience of the audit firm, potential threats to the
auditor’s independence and objectivity, and any controls put in place by the
institution and the auditor to mitigate such threats.

53.  The pre-approved policy devised by the Audit Committee should formally
specify the types of non-audit work from which the external auditor should
be excluded, and the types of work for which the external auditor can
be engaged. The policy should ensure that the auditor has appropriate
procedures to ensure compliance with their profession’s ethical standards.

The governing body, 
acting on the advice of 
the Audit Committee, 
may pass a resolution 
to remove the auditors 
before the end of their 
term of office if serious 
shortcomings are  
identified.

Page 14



54.  Where the institution is incorporated under the Companies Acts, the
‘directors’ (members of the governing body) are required to report
publicly that they have taken steps to make themselves aware of relevant
audit information and have disclosed all relevant information to the
external auditor.

55.  At the end of the audit cycle, the Audit Committee should review the audit
findings, including any changes in audit approach or any modification to the
auditor’s report. The issues to be discussed will depend on institutional and
audit circumstances. Nevertheless, the Audit Committee should:
l  discuss with the external auditor any major issues that arose during the

audit and were subsequently resolved, and those issues that have been
left unresolved;

l  review any problems detected in internal control;
l  review key accounting and audit judgements; and
l  review levels of errors identified during the audit, obtaining explanations

from management and, where necessary, the external auditor about why
certain errors might remain uncorrected.

Element 8: The Audit Committee exercises effective oversight 
of internal audit
56.  The Audit Committee assists the governing body by providing independent

oversight over internal audit. Specifically, the Committee should:
l  assist the governing body in the appointment, or termination of

appointment, of the institution’s head of internal audit or externally
provided internal audit function. The Committee’s recommendation
to the governing body should be based on its assessment of the
qualifications, expertise, resources and independence of the internal
auditor and the effectiveness of the audit process (see below);

l  ensure that the internal auditors have direct access to the Chair of the
Audit Committee and the governing body, and are directly accountable
to the Audit Committee for their performance;

l  review and assess the internal audit work plan;
l  receive periodic reports on the results of the internal auditors’ work;
l  review and monitor management’s responsiveness to the internal

auditors’ findings and recommendations;
l  monitor internal auditors’ performance annually against agreed

performance measures; and
l  ensure that internal audit is properly positioned within the institution

and is adequately resourced to fulfil its role effectively.

57.  The contracts for any externally provided services should be subject to
competitive tender at least every five years, subject to any procurement
rules. Contracts should include a clause to allow for earlier termination in
the event of unsatisfactory performance.

58.  Provision should be made for outgoing auditors to complete their work
and submit their final annual report. Attendance by the outgoing auditors
at the appropriate Audit Committee meeting should also be considered.
If there is a change in auditor, institutions should ensure that the new
contract immediately follows the end of the old contract or make other
suitable arrangements.

59.  Subject to normal staffing arrangements (for in-house auditors) and any
contractual arrangements, only the governing body (or the Audit Committee
where delegated authority exists) in consultation with the Vice-Chancellor
(or equivalent) may pass a resolution to remove the internal auditors before
the end of their term of office if serious shortcomings are identified.

The contracts for any  
externally provided  
services should be  
subject to competitive 
tender at least every  
five years, subject to  
any procurement rules.

Page 15



60.  The Audit Committee should review the audit plan and satisfy itself that
appropriate audit coverage will cover all the institution’s assurance needs.
This includes ensuring that the requirements of regulators are actively
considered as part of the planning process. If internal audit is not covering
an area, then other means of assurance should be in place. When the Audit
Committee is satisfied with the audit plan, it should, if its terms of reference
so require, recommend the plan to the governing body for approval. Once
the plan has been approved, the Audit Committee should monitor the
auditors’ progress against it during the year. Ideally, the Audit Committee
will operate a rolling planning cycle to ensure each key area is considered at
least once every three years.

61.  The Audit Committee should also do its utmost to ensure that internal
audit has:
l  enough respect and support within the institution;
l  unrestricted access to all records, assets, personnel and premises;
l  authorisation to obtain whatever information and explanations are

considered necessary by the head of internal audit; and
l  adequate human and other resources to perform its work effectively.

62.  While the internal auditors report to the HOI (or equivalent) on a day-to- 
day basis, the Audit Committee has an oversight responsibility. As such,
the Committee needs to determine appropriate communication channels
and reporting arrangements with internal audit. This will include the
unrestricted right of the Head of Internal Audit to report any matter they
deem appropriate to the Chair of the Audit Committee. It is important to
make best use of members’ time and effectively manage the amount of
paperwork received by Audit Committees. Some Audit Committees want to
see every audit report, some a summary of every report, some only reports
with limited (or no) assurance and others a periodic summary. Progress
reports, comparing audit activity against the audit plan, are also useful.

63.  It is important that the Audit Committee considers significant individual
audit findings or recommendations, though it need not be concerned with
more detailed findings unless the Committee considers it valuable to do so.

64.  The governing body, advised by the Audit Committee, should ultimately be
responsible for either ensuring that management takes prompt and effective
action on those audit reports which call for it, or recognising and accepting
the risks of management’s inaction.

65.  The internal audit service should provide the governing body and HOI with
an annual report of its activities. This report should relate to the financial
year and should include any significant issues up to the date of the report.
Such reports are generally reviewed by the Audit Committee.

66.  When agreeing appropriate performance measures for internal audit, the
Audit Committee should recognise that, to be effective, such measures need
to be adapted to each institution’s requirements. The following are some of
the more common measures used to monitor the performance of internal
audit, but selection is a matter for each institution:
l  performance against agreed programme, scope and time;
l  staffing continuity, skills mix, quality and seniority of team;
l  timeliness of engagements and reports;
l  clarity and accuracy of reports, and effectiveness of follow-up of

previous recommendations;
l  Audit Committee attendance;
l  focus on risk and key issues; and
l  openness in discussion with the Audit Committee.

It is important to make 
best use of members’ 
time and effectively  
manage the amount of  
paperwork received by 
Audit Committees.

Page 16



Constitution
The governing body has established a Committee of the governing body  
known as the Audit Committee.

Scope
It is the role of the Audit Committee to advise and assist the governing body in 
respect of the entire assurance and control environment of the institution.

Membership
All members of the Audit Committee and its Chair shall be appointed by the  
governing body, from among its own members, and must consist of members 
with no executive responsibility for the management of the institution. There 
shall be no fewer than three members; a quorum shall be at least two members. 
The Chair of the governing body and Chair of the Finance Committee should 
not be members of the Audit Committee. Members should not have significant 
interests in the institution.

At least one member should have recent relevant experience in finance,  
accounting or auditing. The Committee may, if it considers it necessary or  
desirable, co-opt members with relevant expertise.

Attendance at meetings

The head of finance (or equivalent), the head of internal audit and a  
representative of the external auditors shall normally attend meetings where 
business relevant to them is to be discussed. The Committee has the right,  
whenever it is satisfied that this is appropriate, to go into confidential session 
and exclude any or all other participants and observers other than the Audit 
Committee Secretary.

Frequency of meetings

Meetings shall normally be held four times each financial year. The external  
auditors or head of internal audit may request additional meetings if they  
consider it necessary.

Authority
The Committee is authorised by the governing body to investigate any activity 
within its terms of reference. It is authorised to seek any information it requires 
from any employee, and all employees are directed to cooperate with requests 
made by the Committee.

The Committee is authorised by the governing body to obtain outside legal 
or other independent professional advice and to secure the attendance of 
non-members with relevant experience and expertise if it considers this  
necessary, normally in consultation with the HOI and/or Chair of the governing 
body. However, it may not incur direct expenditure in this respect more than  
£xx without the prior approval of the governing body.

Appendix 1 
Audit Committee: model terms of reference

At least one member 
should have recent  
relevant experience  
in finance, accounting  
or auditing.

Page 17



4  Or recommend to the governing body for approval.

The Audit Committee is authorised to approve4 all audit planning documents on 
behalf of the governing body.

The Audit Committee will review the audit of the draft annual financial  
statements. These aspects will include the external audit opinion, the statement 
of members’ responsibilities, the statement of internal control and any relevant 
issue raised in the external auditors’ management letter. The Committee should, 
where appropriate, confirm with the internal and external auditors that the  
effectiveness of the internal control system has been reviewed, and comment  
on this in its annual report to the governing body.

Duties
The duties of the Committee shall be to:

a)  Advise the governing body on the appointment of the external auditors,
the audit fee, the provision of any non-audit services by the external
auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the external
auditors.

b)  Discuss with the external auditors, before the audit begins, the nature
and scope of the audit.

c)  Discuss with the external auditors problems and reservations arising
from the interim and final audits, including a review of the management
letter, incorporating management responses, and any other matters the
external auditors may wish to discuss (in the absence of management
where necessary).

d)  Consider and advise the governing body on the appointment and terms
of engagement of the internal audit service (and the head of internal audit
if applicable), the audit fee, the provision of any non-audit services by the
internal auditors, and any questions of resignation or dismissal of the
internal auditors.

e)  Review the internal auditors’ audit risk assessment, strategy and
programme; consider major findings of internal audit investigations and
management response; and promote coordination between the internal
and external auditors. The Committee will ensure that the resources
made available for internal audit are enough to meet the institution’s
needs (or make a recommendation to the governing body as appropriate).

f)  Keep under review the effectiveness of the risk management, culture,
control and governance arrangements and review the external
auditors’ management letter, the internal auditors’ annual report and
management responses.

g)  Monitor the implementation of agreed audit-based recommendations
from whatever source.

h)  Ensure that all significant losses have been thoroughly investigated
and that the internal and external auditors – and where appropriate the
regulator – have been informed.

i)  Oversee the institution’s policy on fraud and irregularity, including being
notified of any action taken under that policy.

j)  Satisfy itself that suitable arrangements are in place to ensure the
sustainability of the institution and to promote economy, efficiency and
effectiveness. This may include consideration of arrangements that:
a)  support the culture and behaviour that is prevalent within

the institution;
b) ensure the effective management of conflicts of interest; and
c)  enable the appointment of ‘fit and proper persons’ to the governing

body and senior executive positions.

The Audit Committee 
will review the audit  
of the draft annual  
financial statements.

Page 18



k)  Satisfy itself that effective arrangements are in place to ensure
appropriate and accurate data returns are made to external
stakeholders and regulatory bodies.

l)  Receive any relevant reports from the National Audit Office and its
equivalents in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland, the regulator
and other organisations.

m)  Monitor annually the performance and effectiveness of the external
and internal auditors, including any matters affecting their objectivity,
and make recommendations to the governing body concerning their
reappointment, where appropriate.

n)  Monitor other relevant sources of assurance, for example other
external reviews.

o)  Consider elements of the annual financial statements in the presence
of the external auditors, including the auditors’ formal opinion, the
statement of members’ responsibilities and the statement of internal
control, in accordance with the regulator’s accounts directions.

p)  In the event of the merger or dissolution of the institution, ensure that
the necessary actions are completed, including arranging for a final set
of financial statements to be completed and signed.

Reporting procedures
The minutes (or a report) of meetings of the Audit Committee will be circulated  
to all members of the governing body.

The Committee will prepare an annual report covering the institution’s financial 
year and any significant issues up to the date of preparing the report. The  
report will be addressed to the governing body and HOI and will summarise the 
activity for the year. It will give the Committee’s opinion of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the institution’s arrangements for the following:
l  risk management, control and governance (the risk management element

includes the accuracy of the statement of internal control included with the
annual statement of accounts); and

l  sustainability, economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

This opinion should be based on the information presented to the Committee. 
The Audit Committee annual report should normally be submitted to the  
governing body before the members’ responsibility statement in the annual 
financial statements is signed. The report will usually be published after  
consideration by the governing body.

Clerking arrangements
The clerk to the Audit Committee will be the Secretary to the governing body  
(or another appropriate independent individual).

Review
The Audit Committee should periodically (and at a minimum of every four years) 
undertake a review of its terms of reference and its own effectiveness and  
recommend any necessary changes to the governing body.

The Audit Committee 
should periodically (and 
at a minimum of every 
four years) undertake 
a review of its terms of 
reference and its own 
effectiveness.

Page 19



The Audit Committee should question whether management has considered 
those risks likely to have the greatest financial, reputational or regulatory impact 
on the institution. This should include:

l how the Nolan Principles are integrated into the operations of the provider;
l the management of whistleblowing procedures;
l arrangements for anti-bribery;
l tests for ‘fit and proper persons’/reference checking;
l the identification and reporting of material adverse events;
l  identifying fraud risks and a rigorous assessment of any relevant internal

controls and their ability to prevent and/or detect fraud; and
l the management of conflicts of interest.

The Audit Committee should determine whether a consistent approach is  
taken across the provider, whether the risks assessed as high are dealt with  
appropriately, and whether management is engaged in the process.

The Audit Committee should enquire as to whether the institution has an  
effective awareness programme which is updated as appropriate and provided 
in a relevant format to different levels of management and staff (including  
new joiners).

The Audit Committee is not involved in day-to-day management, and therefore 
not closely involved with the detail of matters related to these activities,  
behaviours and procedures. However, it can usefully focus attention on the need 
for proper policies and procedures to help in protecting reputation. In some 
institutions the governing body may delegate this role to an Ethics Committee.

The Audit Committee should question whether appropriate policies have  
been issued and whether they are user-friendly and adopted throughout the 
institution. Policies which might be considered include a fraud-response plan, a 
whistleblowing policy (see below), induction and appraisal arrangements, etc. 
The Committee should consider not just whether these policies are appropriate, 
but whether they are effective and how management has confirmed this. The 
Audit Committee’s objective should be to ensure that arrangements are in place 
for the proportionate and independent investigation of such matters and for 
appropriate follow-up action – i.e. an oversight role.

The Committee should ensure that management is providing clear direction  
to the institution on ethical and other behaviour and requesting and receiving 
relevant information on suspected breaches and risks.

The following are, among other factors, sometimes seen as symptomatic of a 
potential for breaches in appropriate behaviour to occur:

l overly dominant senior executives with unfettered powers;
l  frequent changes in finance or other key personnel, auditors or other

professional advisers;
l  implausible explanations as to reductions in satisfaction levels and/or rises

in complaints, unexpected costs, surpluses, or projections that are too good
to be true;

Appendix 2 
The role of the Audit Committee  
related to ethical and other behaviour5

5  Including whistleblowing, anti-bribery, material adverse and reportable events, fraud and  
irregularity, etc.

The Audit Committee 
should question  
whether management 
has considered those 
risks likely to have  
the greatest financial, 
reputational or  
regulatory impact on  
the institution.

Page 20



l  a lack of justification for special arrangements made for specific staff  
or contractors;

l  individuals who have expensive lifestyles or behaviours that are potentially 
at variance with the remuneration they receive from the institution;

l decision-making processes that are not transparent; and
l discouragement of constructive challenge.

Page 21



There is no ‘right’ way to carry out such a review, but the following is a set of 
statements which can be used as a basis for such a review. Members of the  
Committee can use this as an agenda for discussion, as a questionnaire for  
individual completion and collation, or as an aide memoire for an external  
reviewer to use at interview. There are other questions that might be asked,  
and equally it may not be necessary to ask each question every year. The  
questions can be considered by members, auditors and managers.

Theme 1: Committee focus
1.  The Committee has clear and agreed terms of reference.
2.  The Committee has a clear understanding of their roles and responsibilities, 

including, where appropriate, those relevant to bodies in receipt of  
public funds.

3.  The Committee has set itself a series of objectives it wants to achieve  
this year.

4.   The Committee has made a conscious decision about how it wants to  
operate in terms of the level of information it would like to receive for each  
of the items in its cycle of business.

5.  Committee members contribute regularly across the range of issues  
discussed.

6.  The Committee is fully aware of the key controls, sources of assurance and 
who provides them, and who is responsible for mitigating the key risks to  
the organisation.

7.  The Committee clearly understands and receives assurances and oversees 
controls to manage/operate key functions.

8.  Consideration is given to all the areas within the Committee’s remit,  
appropriate to the significance and risk to the institution.

Theme 2: Committee team working
9.  The Committee has the right balance of experience, knowledge and skills  

to fulfil the role described in its terms of reference.
10.  The Committee has at least one member who has a good understanding  

or experience of auditing.
11.  The Committee has at least one member who has a recent and relevant 

accounting background.
12.  The Committee has structured its agenda to cover all areas within its remit.
13.  The Committee builds constructive professional relationships with both 

internal and external auditors.
14.  The Committee ensures that the relevant manager attends meetings to 

enable it to secure the required level of understanding of the reports and 
information it receives.

15.  Management fully briefs the Committee in relation to the key risks,  
assurances and gaps in control/assurance in a timely fashion.

16.  Members feel sufficiently comfortable within the Committee environment  
to be able to express their views, doubts and opinions.

17. Members understand the information and messages discussed at meetings.
18.  When a decision has been made or action agreed, members feel confident 

that it will be implemented as agreed and in line with the timescale set down.

Appendix 3 
Audit Committee Self-Review

Page 22



Theme 3: Committee effectiveness
19.  The quality of Committee papers received allows members to perform their 

roles effectively.
20.  The timeliness of Committee papers received allows members to perform 

their roles effectively.
21.  Members provide real and genuine challenge.
22.  Debate can flow, and conclusions are reached without being limited by time 

constraints, etc.
23.  Each agenda item is ‘closed off’ appropriately so that members are clear 

what the conclusion is, who is doing what, when and how, and how progress 
will be monitored.

24.  At the end of each meeting members discuss the outcomes and reflect on 
decisions made and what did and did not work well.

25.  The Committee provides a written summary report of its meetings to the 
governing body.

26.  The governing body understands the reporting from the Committee.
27.  There is a formal appraisal of the Committee’s effectiveness each year.  

The appraisal is evidence-based and considers the views of members and 
external contributors.

Theme 4: Committee engagement
28.  The Committee reviews internal audit plans, ensuring appropriate internal 

audit coverage of key control systems and the proper degree of coordination 
of work with external auditors.

29.  The Committee reviews the external audit scope and approach, ensuring 
members understand and are satisfied with the extent of audit work  
anticipated and the level of assurance obtained.

30.  The Committee actively challenges management to gain a clear  
understanding of key matters.

31.  The Committee is clear about the complementary relationship it has with  
the other governing body or Senate/Academic Board Committees.

Theme 5: Committee leadership
32.  The Committee Chair has a positive impact on Committee performance.
33.  Committee meetings are chaired effectively and with clarity of purpose  

and outcome.
34.  The Committee Chair is visible within the organisation and is considered 

approachable.
35.  The Committee Chair allows debate to flow freely and does not assert their 

own views too strongly.
36.  The Committee Chair provides clear and concise information to the  

governing body on the activities of the Committee and the implications of  
all identified risks, gaps in control and assurances.

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 24



Committee(s) 
 

Dated: 
 

Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Guildhall 
School of Music and Drama  

Board of Governors of the Guildhall School of Music and 
Drama 

11/11/2020 
 
23/11/2020 

Subject: Internal Audit Annual Report and Opinion Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

N/A 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding?  

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of: Head of Audit & Risk Management For Information 

Report author: Cirla Peall, Audit Manager 
 

 
Summary 

 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Audit Code of Practice, part of 
the Office for Students terms and conditions of funding higher education institutions.  
It provides your Committee with details of the Internal Audit work undertaken at the 
Guildhall School of Music and Drama (‘the School’) in respect of the academic year 
ended 31st July 2020 with the intention of providing you with an annual audit opinion.  
Appendix 1 provides a summary of audit outcomes which have informed this report, 
comprising both School and corporate audit coverage.  
 
The Head of Audit and Risk Management opinion for 2019-20 is that the School’s 
systems of risk management, control and governance, economy, effectiveness and 
efficiency are generally robust and can be reasonably relied upon to ensure that 
School’s objectives are achieved. 
 
 Recommendation(s)  

• Members are asked to note the report 
 

Main Report 
 

Background 
 

1. Internal Audit plays a role in providing the required assurance on internal controls 
through delivery of its annual risk-focused audit plan. This is reinforced by 
consultation with the School’s Audit and Risk Management Committee, the 
Principal and members of the School’s management team on perceived risk and 
any areas of concern, and a timely recommendations follow-up regime carried out 
by Internal Audit. 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6



2. The Internal Audit Section operates in accordance with the Public Sector Internal 
Audit Standards.  The Internal Audit Charter reflects that the work of Internal 
Audit covers the entire control environment of the City of London Corporation, of 
which the Guildhall School of Music and Drama is an institutional department. 
The scope of work encompasses risk management, control and governance with 
due regard for aspects of Value for Money i.e. economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness.  

 

3. The Committee receives a report on an annual basis from the Head of Audit and 
Risk Management on the extent that the School can rely on its systems of internal 
control and to provide reasonable assurance that the School’s objectives will be 
achieved efficiently.  Annually the Committee considers the audit plan for the 
following year and the wider audit strategy, focusing on coverage of the School’s 
key operations.  Additionally, regular Internal Audit Update Reports are received 
by this Committee containing the detail of the agreed scope for individual 
assignments (as per the finalised terms of reference), a summary of outcomes for 
finalised audits, and updates on recommendations implementation. 

 

4. The School’s main accounting and payroll systems are provided by the City of 
London Corporation. These systems are subject to periodic review by the Internal 
Audit Section and at the time of audit were considered by both Internal Audit and 
the City’s external auditors to provide a high level of internal control.   

 

5. This report includes a summary of audit findings for reviews undertaken during 
the financial year to 31st July 2020. No issues have arisen specifically in respect 
of the School from corporate audits i.e. City of London Corporation audits which 
provide assurance over central relevant systems / processes. 

 
Current Position 
 
6. The Head of Audit Opinion for 2019-20 is informed by the outcome of audits 

summarised at Appendix 1, delivery of the 2020-21 Audit Plan to date (Appendix 
2), and recommendations implementation as determined by Internal Audit follow-
up activity 
 

7. Delivery of the 2020-21 audit plan is underway but the profile of delivery has been 
impacted by the Coronavirus pandemic and the organisation’s immediate 
response; Internal Audit activity recently recommenced in September 2020. At 
the time of preparing this report no significant issues have been identified in 
respect of 2020-21 audits which adversely affect the Head of Audit and Risk 
Management’s opinion.  

 

8. Internal Audit follow-up work in respect of high priority recommendations during 
2019-20 and 2020-21 to date has confirmed implementation of high priority 
recommendations, as well as identifying slippage in implementation resulting in 
revised target deadlines being set.  

 
Internal Audit Outcomes 2019-20 
 
9. Appendix 1 provides a summary of audit outcomes informing the 2019-20 Head 

of Audit Opinion.  The audit coverage spanned the areas set out below.  

Page 26



10. Audit examination of the arrangements for Academic Programme Development 
provided substantial assurance and no recommendations were raised. 
 

11. Audit examination of the arrangements for School Budget-Setting provided 
moderate assurance and two recommendations were made.    

 

Recommendations Red Amber Green Total 

Number Made: 0 1 1 2 

 
12. Both recommendations were agreed with implementation dates provided of July 

2020 and January 2021, respectively.  Internal Audit follow-up identified slippage 
in the implementation of the amber priority recommendation and a revised target 
date of January 2021 has been supplied; formal follow-up will be undertaken in 
February 2021.  
 

13. Audit examination of the Fraud Risk Management arrangements provided 
moderate assurance and seven recommendations were made.  

 

Recommendations Red Amber Green Total 

Number Made: 0 6 1 7 

 
14. The six amber priority recommendations were agreed by School management 

and subsequent Internal Audit follow-up activity has confirmed implementation of 
four of these. One of the outstanding recommendations has not yet reached its 
original target date of 31/12/20 and the other has been subject to a revised target 
implementation date.  Internal Audit follow-up is scheduled for January 2021.  
 

15. Audit examination of the arrangements for Production Arts: Student Petty Cash 
provided moderate assurance and eleven recommendations were raised. 
  

Recommendations Red Amber Green Total 

Number Made: 0 3 8 11 

 
16. Subsequent Internal Audit follow-up activity has confirmed that all three amber 

priority recommendations have been implemented.   
 

Risk Management Activities 
 

17. The corporate Risk Management Strategy aligns with the key principles of ISO 
31000: Risk Management Standard and the UK Government’s Management of 
Risk Guide. The Strategy emphasises risk management as a key element within 
the City Corporation’s systems of corporate governance and establishes a clear 
system for the evaluation of risk and escalation of emerging issues to the 
appropriate scrutiny level It also defines the roles and responsibilities of officers, 
senior management and Members.  

 
18. The Risk Management Group, consisting of senior managers representing all 

departments, includes the Guildhall School of Music and Drama. Strategic 
decisions on risk management are made by the Summit Group. They receive a 
quarterly update on both corporate and top red departmental level risks.  

Page 27



19. The Chief Officer Risk Management Group, working on behalf of the Summit 
Group, meets quarterly to review, in depth, the corporate risk register and report 
their findings to the Summit Group when they consider the quarterly risk update 
report.  

 
20. In addition to receiving quarterly risk update reports, the Audit and Risk 

Management Committee has adopted a cycle of regular departmental risk 
challenge sessions, with Chief Officers and their respective Committee Chairmen. 
These are one-hour long sessions where the Chief Officer discusses with the 
Committee the department’s arrangements for managing risk as well as the key 
risks it faces. In July 2019 the School’s Principal attended the Committee’s 
informal risk challenge session. 

 
21. The Committee also undertake deep dives of corporate risks, meeting six times 

per year and aiming to cover two risks in detail at each meeting.  
 

Head of Audit Opinion 
 

22. The Head of Audit and Risk Management provides the following audit opinion, 
based on Internal Audit work undertaken in 2019-20, whereby the Guildhall 
School’s systems of risk management, control and governance, and 
economy, effectiveness and efficiency are generally robust and can be 
reasonably relied upon to ensure that objectives are achieved.  It should be 
noted that a number of the recommendations arising from our work have not yet 
been implemented, some of which are not yet due, a small number are now 
beyond the timescales originally proposed by management. 

 

Internal Audit Plan 2020-21  
 

23. The Internal Audit Plan is included at Appendix 2.  As reported to the September 
meeting of this Committee, the delivery of Internal Audit work has been impacted 
by the Coronavirus pandemic and the organisation’s immediate response to this.  
 

24. Internal Audit Plan delivery recommenced in September 2020 and a draft report 
has recently been issued in respect of the audit of Internationalisation; the 
summary outcome will be reported to this Committee upon finalisation.  Audit 
fieldwork is also underway in respect of Facilities Management and the scope of 
this work spans both the Barbican and the Guildhall School.  

 
25. Internal Audit will continue to liaise with the School’s senior management to plan 

the remaining assignments and scope audit coverage to enable the provision of 
an annual opinion on the adequacy of the system of internal control for 2020-21. 
 

Recommendations Implementation 
 
26.  Regular Internal Audit follow-up activity within 2019-20 and 2020-21 to date has 

confirmed implementation of recommendations, as well as identifying instances of 
slippage in implementation timescales.   
 

27. As at mid-October 2020, there are no live red priority recommendations and three 
live amber priority recommendations which have exceeded their original target 

Page 28



implementation dates - these are summarised at Appendix 3.  Revised target 
implementation dates have been supplied for two of these recommendations and 
a revised target date is required for the remaining one.  Planned Internal Audit 
follow-up activities will be undertaken in line with the latest revised target 
implementation dates. 

 
28. Internal Audit has reiterated the importance of setting realistic timescales for 

demonstrating recommendations implementation and work is ongoing to obtain 
status updates and confirm revised implementation dates for those outstanding 
recommendations where no information was provided. 
 

Corporate & Strategic Implications 
 
29. The overall Internal Audit Plan is designed to provide assurance as to the 

adequacy of the City of London Corporation’s systems of internal control and 
governance.  This programme of activity is aligned with the Corporate Plan, 
Corporate Risk Register and Departmental Top Risks.  The Guildhall School, as 
an institutional department of the Corporation, has a sub-section of the Plan and 
a programme of Internal Audit work that includes audit assignments and regular 
follow-up activity in respect of recommendations implementation.  
 

Conclusion 
 

30. A positive Head of Audit and Risk Management annual opinion has been 
provided, based on Internal Audit work carried out during the academic year 
ended 31st July 2020. 

 

31. Delivery of the 2020-21 Internal Audit Plan is in progress.  The scoping and 
timing of delivery of the remaining assignments will ensure sufficient coverage to 
enable the provision of an annual opinion on the adequacy of the system of 
internal control for 2020-21. 
 

32. High priority recommendations are subject to regular review and follow-up by 
Internal Audit and this has identified some slippage in implementation timescales.  
Revised target dates have been supplied in respect of overdue high priority 
recommendations and Internal Audit formal follow-up work will continue at regular 
intervals to confirm the implementation status. 

 
Appendices 
 

• Appendix 1 - Schedule of Relevant Internal Audit Work for 2019-20 Opinion 

• Appendix 2 – Audit Plan 2020-21 

• Appendix 2 – Overdue High Priority Recommendations as at 20/10/2020 
 
Cirla Peall 
Audit Manager, Chamberlain’s Department 
 

Matt Lock 
Head of Audit and Risk Management, Chamberlain’s Department 
E: matt.lock@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
T: 020 7332 1276 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 30



Appendix 1 
 

Schedule of Internal Audit Projects informing the Guildhall School Annual Audit Opinion 2019-20 
 

  Recommendations  

Project Assurance 
Rating 

Total 
Red 

Total 
Amber 

Total 
Green 

Total 

Academic Programme Development (Phase 2) 
 

This audit, undertaken in two phases, sought assurance that adequate arrangements 
were in place in respect of the areas set out below: 

 

• A framework which enables evaluation of the student programme offer - 
identification of potential new courses and elimination of existing ones where low 
enrolment is identified – ensuring it remains relevant and in line with the School’s 
Strategic vision and objectives.  

• Processes for developing new courses, including evaluation of financial viability.  

• Stakeholder engagement in Programme formulation and arrangements for 
communicating changes.  

• Performance monitoring, incorporating periodic review, to evaluate whether 
delivery outcomes are as intended.  

 

 
 

Substantial 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 
 
 

 
 

0 

 
 

0 

 
Budget-Setting 

This audit sought assurance that adequate arrangements were in place in respect of 
the areas set out below: 
 

• Budget-setting guidance, and a budget-setting timetable which is communicated 
to the staff involved in the budget setting process. 

• Budget based on accurate historic financial data, robust assumptions and taking 
account of the best estimate of the School’s financial requirement and income. 
 

 
 
 

Moderate 

 
 
 

0 

 
 
 

1 

 
 
 

1 

 
 
 

2 
 

P
age 31



  Recommendations  

Project Assurance 
Rating 

Total 
Red 

Total 
Amber 

Total 
Green 

Total 

• Any efficiency savings factored into the budget are supported with a plan on how 
that will be achieved. 

• Adequate consideration is given to how the budget will support the School’s 
medium-term strategic plan. 

• Budget consultation takes place to ensure that the budget is realistic from an 
operational perspective and proposed budget is challenged to ensure that the 
financial resources are allocated and used in a most efficient manner. 

• The budget is formally approved. 

Fraud Risk Management 

This audit sought assurance that appropriate mechanisms were in operation for 
fraud risk management across the Guildhall School. In particular, the audit sought 
assurance that: 

• A clear framework was in operation for identifying, assessing, mitigating and 
monitoring fraud risks. 

• Arrangements are in operation for reporting to Governors and Senior 
Management on the effectiveness of fraud risk management. 

• A fraud aware culture was promoted by determining and communicating 
appropriate routes through which suspected or actual fraud can be reported and 
taking appropriate actions to implement lessons learned from known fraud cases. 

• Procedures had been developed and communicated to all key staff, clearly 
depicting what is expected in areas of the business activity with a high fraud risk, 
for example procurement, cash income collection, equipment management, and 
declarations of interest / gifts and hospitality.  

• Appropriate training had been delivered to staff in these high fraud risk areas. 
 

 
 

Moderate 
 

 
 

0 

 
 

6 

 
 

1 

 
 

7 

P
age 32



  Recommendations  

Project Assurance 
Rating 

Total 
Red 

Total 
Amber 

Total 
Green 

Total 

Production Arts: Student Petty Cash  
 
The audit was requested by the School and sought assurance that there were 
adequate arrangements in place for: 
 

• Issuing petty cash floats and ensuring that floats are returned at the end of 
productions. 

• Verifying the validity of petty cash expenditure. 

• Reconciling the petty cash floats to ensure all petty cash funds are accounted for. 

• Recording petty cash expenditure within the Guildhall School’s Finance System, 
Oracle R12. 

• Replenishing the petty cash funds to the correct level on a timely basis. 

• Maintaining the security of the School’s petty cash funds. 

 

 
 

Moderate 

 
 

0 
 

 
 

3 

 
 

8 

 
 

11 

Total Recommendations  0 10 10 20 
 

 

P
age 33



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 34



Guildhall School 2020-21 Internal Audit Plan (November 2020)      Appendix 2 

Auditable Area Proposed Scope Audit 
Days 

Status / 
Scheduling 

Comments 

GSMD & Barbican: 
Facilities 
Management 

An examination of the arrangements for managing the 
property assets of the Barbican Centre and the Guildhall 
School. 

15 Fieldwork This audit was initiated in March 2020 and put on 
hold at the request of management to enable the 
Centre to focus on its COVID response.  

Internationalisation To evaluate the adequacy of arrangements in operation to 
support delivery of strategic aims related to 
Internationalisation, including mechanisms for monitoring, 
review and reporting of delivery to Senior Management and 
Members. 

12 Draft Report This audit was impacted by the organisation’s 
response to COVID and staff absence within 
Internal Audit.  

Medium Term 
Financial Planning 

Review of Medium-Term Financial Planning:  
Phase 1 to cover the approach to preparing the plan and 
provide assurance as to the adequacy of the process and 
plan itself. (Estimated at 4 days) 
Phase 2 to provide assurance on the implementation of the 
plan and delivery against this. (Estimated at 8 days)  

12 Phase 1 – 
November 2020 
 
Phase 2 – 
subject to detail 
of the plan 

Previously titled: Diversifying Funding / Fundraising, 
scope broadened to give consideration to wider 
financial risk.  The allocation of time will be split to 
provide initial assurance on planning and 
subsequent assurance on implementation.  

Guildhall Young 
Artists 

Operation of the under 18 education programme, alignment 
to strategy, administration and general control environment. 
Review of regional centres and the programme of 
consolidation, including arrangements for safeguarding. 

12 Planning Planning for this audit was initiated in May 2020 
and impacted by staff absence within Internal 
Audit.   

Governance Review of governance arrangements, in-line with industry 
and regulator expectations and requirements 

12 To be 
determined 

Timing to be determined by the publishing and 
outcomes of the City of London Corporation’s 
Governance Review 

Data Futures Readiness for and compliance with HESA's Data Futures 
transformation programme 

12 To be 
determined 

Considerable uncertainty remains as to the 
requirements and timescales for the transition to 
Data Futures, this review needs to be held until the 
latest point in the current audit planning cycle and 
may need to be deferred to the following year. 

P
age 35



Guildhall School 2020-21 Internal Audit Plan (November 2020)      Appendix 2 

Auditable Area Proposed Scope Audit 
Days 

Status / 
Scheduling 

Comments 

Data Quality Independent verification/validation of data submissions, 
rolling programme, focussing on HR and Finance data for 
2020/21 (HEFCE and HESA returns) 

10 To be 
determined 

Higher Education Specialist to be engaged to 
deliver this work, the precise timing of this work 
will be determined on the providers industry 
knowledge, although likely to fall between 
provisional reporting in October and final reporting 
January 2021 

 

P
age 36



Appendix 3 

Schedule of GSMD Overdue High Priority Recommendations as at mid-October 2020  
 

Recommendation Area Priority Status Original 
Target 
Date 

Revised 
Target 
Date 

Comment  

1. Student Affairs (MK 2808): 
Review of service provision to 
provide ongoing assurance 
that delivery is effective and 
represents value for money. 

Amber Overdue  30/09/19 30/06/20 Internal Audit Comment: 
Partial implementation has been demonstrated.  A 
revised target date for demonstration of full 
implementation is required. 
 
Management Comment: 
Documentation in respect of the move to online 
provision, including an assessment of how that went, 
has been requested.  It is understood that elements of 
online support have worked well and it is possible that 
these may be retained; if that is the case, the decision-
making process will be documented.   

2. Fraud Risk Management (MK 
3224): Identification of Risks 
at Divisional Level.  

Amber Overdue 31/01/20 31/10/20 Internal Audit Comment: 
A revised target timescale of 31/10/20 has been 
supplied for demonstration of full implementation. 
 
Management Comment: 
Since lockdown, divisional meetings have taken place 
online and often in a less formal way than might have 
been the case in a face to face meeting with printed 
papers. A formal reminder will be given to all committee 
chairs at Senior Management Team on 17 September 
to ensure that Risk is considered at divisional meetings. 
It will be suggested that the terms of reference for all 
such committees be revised to explicitly include a 
requirement to report all risks identified by a committee 
to SMT for consideration as to whether or not it ought to 
be included on the School's risk register. 

P
age 37



Recommendation Area Priority Status Original 
Target 
Date 

Revised 
Target 
Date 

Comment  

3. Budget-Setting (MK 3432): 
Final budget reconciliation to 
supporting documentation.   

Amber Overdue 31/07/20 31/01/21 Internal Audit Comment: 
A revised target timescale of 31/01/21 has been 
supplied for demonstration of full implementation. 
 
Management Comment: 
While the School uses a variety of spreadsheets to 
track and reconcile budgets for students fees, salaries 
etc this is an evolving programme between November 
when provisional budgets are presented to the City and 
April when a final budget is approved and uploaded to 
CBIS. It had been intended that a detailed map be 
prepared in April when the latest current budget was 
uploaded but this was delayed by Covid-19. the School 
is currently working with the City on a re-budgeting 
exercise for 2020-21. a detailed map setting out where 
the adjusted figures have come from will be saved in a 
single folder alongside an excel version of the budget 
once that process is complete. 

 

P
age 38



Document is Restricted

Page 39

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 43

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 71

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 101

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 111

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 119

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Public Minutes
	4 New CUC Code of Practice for Audit Committees
	6 Internal Audit Annual Report
	Appendix 1 Audit Work informing 2019-20 Audit Opinion for circulation
	Appendix 2 Guildhall School - Internal Audit Plan 2020_21 for circulation
	Appendix 3 GSMD Overdue High Priority Recommendations - Nov 2020 for circulation

	10 Non Public Minutes
	11 Guildhall School of Music & Drama Risk Register
	Risk Register Annex 1
	Risk Register Annex 2
	Risk Register Annex 3

	12 Guildhall School of Music and Drama Budget 2020/21
	13 Update to the Medium Term Financial Plan

